No. S178241

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JESSICA PINEDA, *Plaintiff and Appellant*,

DEC 2 4 2009

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clark

Deputy

WILLIAMS-SONOMA STORES, INC., a California Corporation Defendant and Respondent.

v.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal of the State of California Fourth Appellate District, Division One

Case No. D054355

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the County of San Diego The Honorable Ronald S. Prager Case No. 37-2008-00086061-CU-BT-CTL

REPLY TO ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

INTRODUCTION

Williams-Sonoma Stores, Inc. ("Williams-Sonoma") raises three procedural arguments in an attempt to convince this Court to deny Jessica Pineda's Petition for Review.

First, Williams-Sonoma argues that the Supreme Court sits to resolve only conflicts among appellate districts, not to resolve conflicts among divisions within a single appellate district. *See* Answer to Petition for Review, p.6. Williams-Sonoma is simply wrong. The Supreme Court certainly can, and does, resolve conflicts among divisions within a single appellate district.

Second, Williams-Sonoma argues that the loophole created by the Court of Appeal's decisions in <u>Party City</u> and <u>Pineda</u>, which allows retailers to circumvent the statute by collecting zip codes during credit card transactions and then using them to obtain home addresses, should be presented to the California Legislature, rather than the California Supreme

Court. See Answer to Petition for Review, p.14-15. Williams-Sonoma misses the point. The California Legislature broadly drafted the definition of personal identification information as set forth in California Civil Code Section 1747.08(b) to prevent retailers from circumventing the statute. It is the Court of Appeal who has created the loophole in Section 1747.08 by narrowing the definition drafted by the Legislature to exclude zip codes from the definition.

Third, Williams-Sonoma argues that Ms. Pineda's Petition for Review should be denied because she did not first file a Petition for Rehearing with the Court of Appeal. *See* Answer to Petition for Review, p.17. This argument is without any merit. Ms. Pineda's Petition for Review presents the Supreme Court with purely legal issues. There are no material factual issues in dispute. In fact, as Ms. Pineda set forth in her Petition for Review, she has confirmed that the Court of Appeal has accurately set forth the factual recitations alleged in the Complaint and assumed the truth of those facts. *See* Petition for Review, p.7. Because Ms. Pineda has not asserted that the Court of Appeal misstated facts, and because Ms. Pineda presented all of the legal issues set forth in the Petition for Review to the Court of Appeal, it was not necessary for Ms. Pineda to file a Petition for Rehearing with the Court of Appeal.

DISCUSSION

I. The Petition For Review Should Be Granted To Secure Uniformity In The Construction Of Consumer Protection Statutes

Williams-Sonoma cites the <u>People v. Sam Davis</u>, (1905) 147 Cal.

346, for the proposition that the Supreme Court is to resolve only conflicts among the districts, not to resolve conflicts among divisions within a single district. However, the Supreme Court clearly stated in the <u>Davis</u> case that

the Supreme Court has the power to:

[T]o supervise and control the opinions of the several district courts of appeal, each of which is acting concurrently and independently of the others, and by such supervision to endeavor to secure harmony and uniformity in the decisions, their conformity to the settled rules and principles of law, a uniform rule of decision throughout the State, a correct and uniform construction of the Constitution, statutes, and charters, and, in some instances, a final decision by the court of last resort of some doubtful or disputed questions of law. Davis, 147 Cal. at 348 (emphasis added).

Certainly, the separate divisions within an appellate district act concurrently and independently of the other divisions within any of the district courts of appeal.

The Supreme Court is in fact the proper court to present conflicts among divisions within a single appellate district. In fact, the Supreme Court resolved such an intradistrict conflict in People v. Cornell Cooper Brown, (2004) 33 Cal.4th 892. In the Brown case, the Supreme Court granted a petition for review to resolve a conflict of decisions between different divisions within the Second Appellate District. Specifically, the Supreme Court affirmed the decision of the Second Appellate District, Division Six (holding that expert testimony was admissible) and disapproved language to the contrary contained in the case People v. Gomez, (1999) 72 Cal. App. 4th 405, issued by the Court of Appeal sitting in the Second Appellate District, Division Three. Id. at 908. At the time that the Court of Appeal in the Brown case issued its decision, there was a conflict of decision between two courts of appeal sitting in the Second Appellate District in two separate divisions. Brown, 33 Cal.4th at 895. In Brown, the Supreme Court recognized that "[t]wo Court of Appeal decisions have addressed the issue whether expert testimony about the behavior of domestic violence victims is admissible when only one instance of abuse has occurred: People v. Gomez, (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 405 (Gomez) held it inadmissible; People v. Williams, (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 1118 (Williams) held it admissible." The Court of Appeal that decided Gomez sat in the Second Appellate District, Division Three; and the Court of Appeal that decided Williams sat in the Second Appellate District, Division Four.

Further, the Supreme Court has in fact resolved conflicts between Divisions One and Three of the Fourth Appellate District, which are the same divisions of the Fourth Appellate District that are in conflict regarding the statutory interpretation at issue in Pineda's Petition for Review . *See* Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association v. City of La Habra, (2001) 25 Cal.4th 809. Specifically, in the Howard Jarvis case, the California Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeal sitting in Division Three of the Fourth Appellate District after said Appellate Court expressly disagreed with the decision rendered by the Court of Appeal sitting in the Fourth Appellate District, Division One, in the case entitled McBrearty v. City of Brawley, (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 1141, on the same legal issue relating to the accrual of causes of action. Id.

As is clearly established through the Supreme Court's granting petitions for review in both the <u>Brown</u> and <u>Howard Jarvis</u> cases, the Supreme Court certainly can, and does, resolve conflicts among divisions within a single appellate district.

Contrary to Williams-Sonoma's assertion, a conflict absolutely exists between Divisions One and Three of the Fourth Appellate District with regard to whether Section 1747.08 should be "strictly construed" or "liberally construed." "Personal identification information" is specifically defined in Section 1747.08 as "information concerning the cardholder, other than information set forth on the credit card, and including, but not limited to, the cardholder's address and telephone number." Cal. Civ. Code

§ 1747.08(b) (emphasis added). In narrowing this broad definition to exclude zip codes, the Court of Appeal clearly followed the Party City Court which found that "the definitions in the Act that give rise to exposure to this mandatory civil penalty should be strictly construed." Party City Corp. v. Superior Court, (2008) 169 Cal. App. 4th 497, 511. In doing so, the Court of Appeal necessarily had to ignore California law directly on point finding that the Song-Beverly Credit Card Act is "remedial in nature and in the public interest [and] is to be *liberally construed* to the end of fostering its objectives." Young v. Bank of America, (1983) 141 Cal.App.3d 108, 114 (emphasis added). In construing the identical section of the Credit Card Act that is at issue in this case, the Florez Court sitting in the Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, surmised that: "Section 1747.8 is part of the Song-Beverly Credit Card Act, designed to promote consumer protection. The [A]ct imposes fair business practices for the protection for the protection of the consumers. Such a law is remedial in nature and in the public interest [and] is to be *liberally construed* to the end of fostering its objectives." Florez v. Linens 'N Things, Inc., (2003) 108 Cal. App. 4th 447, 450 (citing Young, 141 Cal.App.3d at 114) (emphasis added; internal quotes omitted).

The Supreme Court should grant Pineda's Petition for Review to resolve the conflict of whether Section 1747.08, specifically, and consumer protections statutes, generally, should be "strictly construed" or "liberally construed."

II. The Petition For Review Should Be Granted To Close The Loophole Created By The Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Which Allows Retailers To Circumvent California Civil Code Section 1747.08, Rendering It Meaningless

Williams-Sonoma argues that the loophole created by the Court of Appeal's decisions in Party City and Pineda which allows retailers to circumvent the statute by collecting zip codes during credit card transactions and then using them to obtain home addresses, should be presented to the California Legislature, rather than the California Supreme Court. See Answer to Petition for Review, p.14-15. However, it is the Court of Appeal, not the Legislature, that created this loophole. The California Legislature broadly drafted the definition of personal identification information as set forth in California Civil Code § 1747.08(b) to prevent retailers from circumventing the statute. It is the Court of Appeal who has created the loophole in Section 1747.08 by narrowing the definition drafted by the Legislature to exclude zip codes from the definition.

Because zip codes undoubtedly constitute "information concerning the cardholder" that is not set forth on the credit card, they fall squarely within the definition of "personal identification information" supplied in section 1747.08 (b). Instead of this straight forward express definition, both the Trial Court and the Court of Appeal applied a much more restrictive definition of "personal identification information." Specifically, both the Trial Court and Court of Appeal inserted an additional criteria into the definition by requiring that the information be "unique" to the cardholder, rather than merely "concerning" the cardholder as set forth in the express definition. Exhibit 11, pp. 386-389; Opinion, p. 5.

The Court of Appeal has created a loophole in Section 1747.08 by narrowing the definition and creating a situation where retailers are prohibited from collecting customers' telephone number and address information directly, but allowed to covertly obtain this very information through the even more deceptive practice of collecting customers' zip codes under the guise of needing this information to process credit card transactions.

If a retailer is allowed to collect zip codes during credit card transactions to obtain the cardholder's home address, then Section 1747.08 would be made void and meaningless. It is a Maxim of Jurisprudence that "[a]n interpretation which gives effect is preferred to one which makes void." Cal. Civ. Code § 3541. "These canons [of judicial interpretation] generally preclude judicial construction that renders part of the statute 'meaningless or inoperative.'" Hassan v. Mercy Amercian River Hospital, (2003) 31 Cal.4th 709, 715-16 (citing Manufacturers Life Ins. Co. v. Superior Court, (1995) 10 Cal.4th 257, 274).

III. Pineda's Petition For Review Presents Pure Legal Issues and Pineda Has Not Alleged That The Court Of Appeal Misstated Facts

Williams-Sonoma contends that Ms. Pineda's Petition for Review should be denied because she did not file a Petition for Rehearing with the Court of Appeal. Williams-Sonoma argues that "if the party asserts that the Court of Appeal misstated facts, then it is *obligated* to first bring it to the Court of Appeal's attention before seeking review." *See* Answer to Petition for Review, p.17. Williams-Sonoma cites California Rules of Court 8.500(c)(2) to support its argument. California Rule of Court 8500(c)(2) states as follows:

A party may petition for review without petitioning for rehearing in the Court of Appeal, but as a policy matter the Supreme Court normally will accept the Court of Appeal's opinion's statement of the issues and facts unless the party has called the Court of Appeal's attention to any alleged omission or misstatement of an issue or fact in a petition for rehearing. Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(c)(2).

Williams-Sonoma's argument is misplaced, in that Ms. Pineda has not asserted that the Court of Appeal misstated any facts. As Ms. Pineda set forth in her Petition for Review, she has confirmed that the Court of Appeal has accurately set forth the factual recitations alleged in the Complaint and

assumed the truth of those facts. *See* Petition for Review, p.7. The undisputed material facts in this case are that Williams-Sonoma deceptively requests its credit card customers' zip codes under the guise of needing them to process their credit card transactions; covertly captures customers' names from their credit cards; and utilizes all of this information to pinpoint and specifically identify the respective consumers' home addresses; which Williams-Sonoma stores in its databases and uses for its own profit.

Ms. Pineda's Petition for Review presents only pure legal issues, all of which were presented to the Court of Appeal. As such, there was no need for Ms. Pineda to file a petition for rehearing with the Court of Appeal, and in fact any such Petition for Rehearing would have been futile and resulted in unnecessary delay.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff and Appellant Jessica Pineda respectfully requests this Court to Review the Court of Appeal's Opinion in this case.