Supreme Court No. S178241

In the Supreme Court

OF THE

State of California

SUPREME COURT

DEC 1 5 2009

JESSICA PINEDA
Plaintiff, Appellant and Petitioner,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Člerk

Deputy

v.

WILLIAMS-SONOMA STORES, INC., a California Corporation Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE
Appeal No. D054355

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO HONORABLE JUDGE RONALD S. PRAGER Case No. 37-2008-00086061-CU-BT-CTL

RESPONDENT WILLIAMS-SONOMA STORES, INC.'S

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SHEPPARD, MULLIN, RICHTER & HAMPTON LLP
P. CRAIG CARDON, CAL. BAR NO. 168646

I. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Does a zip code constitute "personal identification information" under The Song-Beverly Credit Card Act of 1971 ("Song-Beverly"), California Civil Code § 1747.08(b)?
- 2. Does Williams-Sonoma invade the California constitutional right to privacy if it uses its customers' zip codes to obtain their residential addresses?

II. INTRODUCTION

If these questions look familiar, that is because this Court less than one year ago denied a petition for review in a matter that raised the same issues – whether a retailer violated Song-Beverly by requesting and then recording its customers' zip codes in connection with a credit card transaction, allowing the retailer to then use those zip codes to obtain the customers' home addresses. *Party City v. Superior Court* (2008) 169 Cal. App. 4th 497 (*review denied*, April 1, 2009).

Ms. Pineda's Petition for Review (the "Petition") is in reality asking this Court to overturn *Party City*, after retailers and trial courts throughout the State have been relying on it for over one year. The Petition asks this Court to decide that the Fourth District of the Court of Appeal was wrong twice – once in *Party City* and once in the instant matter – in coming to

identical conclusions that the requesting and recording of a zip code is not covered by Song-Beverly as a pure matter of law, even in cases where the defendant is allegedly using zip codes to obtain their customers' home addresses.

Apart from the fact that error is not legitimate grounds for review, the Court of Appeal was not wrong. A zip code is simply not "personal identification information" and therefore is not covered by Song-Beverly.

Further, the Court of Appeal correctly held that it is not an invasion of privacy to look up someone's address in publicly available sources without their knowledge – if it was, people and companies would be liable for invasion of privacy thousands of times every day throughout California. The trial court decided, and the Court of Appeal agreed, that Ms. Pineda failed to allege all of the necessary threshold elements of tortious invasion of privacy under the California Constitution. The Petition does not argue that there is any split in authority over this issue. Nor is the Court of Appeal's ruling on this one factor an important question of law. Indeed, the issue on this claim is entirely unique to the facts alleged in this case. The only specific grounds that the Petition argues for review of the invasion of privacy cause of action is that the Court of Appeal was wrong. Again, not only was the Court of Appeal correct, but alleged error is not legitimate grounds for review. Williams-Sonoma respectfully requests, therefore, that this Court deny Ms. Pineda's Petition.

III. CORRECTION TO STATEMENT OF FACTS IN PETITION

Williams-Sonoma accepts the Court of Appeal's recitation of the facts and requests that the Court adopt the decision's statement of facts pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.500(c)(2).¹

The Petition, however, goes well beyond the Court of Appeal's recitation of facts and makes several *misstatements* of fact that are unsupported by the record. (*See, e.g.*, Petition, p. 2 (statements re the conclusions of "the great majority of trial courts"), p. 3 (statements re "identity theft and credit card fraud"), p. 16, fn. 3 (statements re gas stations' conduct), pp. 23-24 (statements re identity theft and the TJX hacking incident).)² Those statements should be disregarded. *See Smith v. State Bar* (1985) 38 Cal.3d 525, 541 (disregarding facts unsupported by record).

¹ Because the appeal arose from an order sustaining a demurrer, Williams-Sonoma is bound to accept the facts pleaded in the Complaint as true and accepts the Court of Appeal's recitation of the facts pleaded.

² The statements with respect to identity theft, credit card fraud and the TJX hacking incident on pages 3, 23 and 24 of the Petition should especially be disregarded as they were included in Ms. Pineda's Opening Brief and then specifically stricken from the record by the Court of Appeal upon Williams-Sonoma's Motion to Strike. (Order filed October 8, 2009 ("The respondent's motion to strike portions of the appellant's opening brief is granted. The court has disregarded the stricken portions of the appellant's opening brief.").) It is particularly improper for Ms. Pineda to attempt to introduce them despite the Court of Appeal's order, and, further, without calling to this Court's attention that the Court of Appeal ordered those unpleaded and unsupported arguments stricken.

The Petition is also misleading because it asserts that a panel of justices different from the *Party City* panel decided *Pineda*, and argues that the *Pineda* panel misinterpreted *Party City*. (Petition, pp. 18-20.) This argument is absurd. Justice Huffman, who was the author of *Party City*, was one of the justices on the *Pineda* panel and concurred in the Opinion. (Opinion, p. 9.) It is preposterous to suggest that Justice Huffman misinterpreted his own words or was unaware of or misunderstood the differences in the factual records between the two cases.

IV. THERE ARE NO GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

Supreme Court review is discretionary. *People v. Davis* (1905) 147 Cal. 346, 347-49. The grounds for Supreme Court review are exclusively provided for in California Rule of Court 8.500(b). Ms. Pineda argues that review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision and to settle an important question of law under Rule 8.500(b)(1).³ (Petition, pp. 6-7.) There is neither need nor basis for either.

³ As discussed more fully below, the Petition does not argue that the Court of Appeal's decision with respect to the invasion of privacy cause of action is subject to review on either of these grounds. The Petition merely argues the Court of Appeal was wrong. (Petition, pp. 20-24.) This is not proper grounds for review. See Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b); Davis, 147 Cal. at 348.

A. There Is No Split Among the Courts of Appeal.

The Fourth District has twice considered whether a zip code is "personal identification information" under Song-Beverly and has twice concluded that it is not. *Party City*, 169 Cal. App. 4th at 519; Opinion, p. 6 ("The *Party City* court concluded, and we agree, that [Song-Beverly] does not prohibit this conduct [of asking customers for their zip codes]."). Both panels were also aware that a zip code, combined with other information about the cardholder, could lead to the cardholder's home address but *still* held that a zip code itself is not "personal identification information." *Party City*, 169 Cal. App. 4th at 505, n. 6; Opinion, p. 6.

The Petition attempts to manufacture a split in authority where there is none between Divisions One and Three of the Fourth District on the proper standard of construction for this particular section of Song-Beverly.

Ms. Pineda argues that the *Pineda* court strictly construed the statute, whereas the *Florez* court liberally construed it in *Florez v. Linens 'N'*Things (2003) 108 Cal. App. 4th 447, and therefore this Court should resolve the conflict over the proper standard of construction. (Petition, pp. 6-7). The Petition argues that if the statute were liberally construed, a zip code would be "personal identification information" because retailers can use zip codes to obtain home addresses. (Petition, pp. 13-18.) This issue of the proper standard of construction is a non sequitur.

First, even if there were a conflict between Divisions One and Three in the Fourth District, the Supreme Court sits to resolve conflicts among the districts, not to resolve purported conflicts among divisions within a single district. *See Davis*, 147 Cal. at 348 (one object of the Supreme Court is "to supervise and control the opinions of the several **district** courts of appeal" to secure uniformity among them) (emphasis added). In circumstances where there is a perceived conflict within a district, there is a procedural remedy to address it at the district level: a petition to the Fourth District for rehearing (which Ms. Pineda did not do), as discussed further below.

Second, the *Pineda* panel did not identify the standard of construction it was applying to the statute. (*See* Opinion, pp. 4-6.) Thus, there is not even a basis for Ms. Pineda's *assumption* that the court strictly construed the statute. Accordingly, there is no conflict whatsoever between this case (*Pineda*) and *Florez*. The alleged intradistrict conflict that the Petition seeks review to resolve is actually between *Party City* and *Florez*. The subject of the alleged intradistrict split – the proper standard for construction of Civil Code section 1747.08 – is never even mentioned in *Pineda*.

Third, under either a strict or liberal standard, a zip code is not "personal identification information" based on the plain language of the statute. *Party City*, 169 Cal. App. 4th at 502.⁴ Petitioner seeks to distinguish *Pineda* from *Party City* with allegations regarding the use of a zip code to look up a street address. But this question was already expressly addressed in *Party City*. *Party City*, 169 Cal. App. 4th at 505, n. 6. The Court of Appeal in *Pineda* correctly identified the issue – either a zip code is "personal identification information" or it is not as a matter of law. (Opinion, p. 6). Factual allegations with respect to what the retailer subsequently does with the zip code do not change the nature of the zip

⁴ The Petition argues that the policy goals articulated in the legislative history of Song-Beverly are consistent with prohibiting retailers from requesting zip codes and then reverse-searching for home addresses. (Petition, pp. 16-18). While Williams-Sonoma does not agree with this characterization of the legislative history of the statute, courts only look to history when the plain language of the statute is ambiguous. Californians Against Waste v. Dept. of Conservation (2002) 104 Cal. App. 4th 317, 321; Kaufman & Broad Comm. v. Per. Plast. (2005) 133 Cal. App. 4th 26, 29-30. Under *Party City*, the issue was properly decided based on the statute's language. As discussed more fully below, such a "loophole" argument is properly addressed to the Legislature. Song-Beverly is not the omnibus privacy legislation that Petitioner may desire it to be. It is a specific statute designed to address the collection "of very specific and personal information" in the context of a credit card transaction where retailers had previously used preprinted forms seeking that information. See Florez, 108 Cal. App. 4th at 452. The Petition makes an unfounded leap in logic when it asserts that consistency with broad policy goals is coterminous with scope of the statute. Alleged conduct does not violate a particular statute just because it falls within the ambit of the Legislature's overall policy goal in enacting the statute. For example, a statute restricting watering lawns on certain days may have a goal of water conservation, but it does not follow that any act that may potentially waste water violates that statute.

code itself. Thus, these allegations would be *irrelevant* no matter which standard of construction a court were to apply.

Fourth, if in fact the Court of Appeal strictly construed the statute, it was correct to do so.⁵ The Petition argues that, under *Florez*, Song-Beverly should be liberally construed because it is a remedial statute, and that the Court of Appeal ignored *People ex rel. Lungren v. Superior Court* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 294, which held that only criminal statutes are to be strictly construed. (Petition, pp. 13-15). Neither reason is consistent with California law. Penal statutes (i.e. statutes that impose a penalty),

⁵ The question in *Florez* was different than that in this case. *See Party City*, 160 Cal. App. 4th at 514 ("The above cases are distinguishable on their facts as involving the timing and the recording of certain requested personal identification information, such as individual telephone numbers, ... They do not answer the question of what definition should be given with regard to ZIP Codes under the Act."). In *Florez*, there was no question with respect to whether Linens 'N' Things was asking for "personal identification information" because the store was asking for its customer's telephone numbers, information that is expressly covered by Song-Beverly. *Florez*, 108 Cal. App. 4th at 449. *Pineda*, like *Party City*, addressed a totally different question: the threshold question of what else besides an address and telephone number is "personal identification information" and therefore covered by the statute?

regardless of whether they be criminal or civil, are to be strictly construed.⁶

Tos v. Mayfair Packaging Co. (1984) 160 Cal. App. 3d 67, 78-79.

As discussed above, *Pineda* does not conflict with *Florez* on this issue because the Court of Appeal in *Pineda* did not identify the standard of construction it applied or whether it considered Song-Beverly to be remedial or penal in nature. The topic was never even mentioned in the *Pineda* Opinion. Regardless, whether a statute is remedial or penal is not a mutually exclusive proposition. A statute may be **both** remedial and penal in nature. *Symmes v. Sierra Nevada Mining Co.* (1915) 171 Cal. 427.

Civil statutes are penal in nature when they do not seek to compensate the plaintiff's loss, but instead seek to punish the defendant.

Miller v. Municipal Court (1943) 22 Cal.2d 818, 862 (citing 1 Corpus Juris Secundum, page 1180, section 69). "[T]he moment the element of compensation for loss is eliminated, the statute itself becomes highly penal

The Petition also argues that the Court of Appeal necessarily ignored Young v. Bank of America (1983) 141 Cal. App. 3d 108, 114, which held that Song-Beverly must be liberally construed because it is remedial in nature and which case Petitioner claims is "directly on point". (Petition, p. 13.) But Young interpreted a completely different section of Song-Beverly, which did not impose a mandatory penalty. Young, 141 Cal. App. 3d 108 (applying award of compensatory and discretionary treble damages based on provisions of Song-Beverly that require issuers to correct billing errors within sixty days and prohibit reporting unfavorable credit information to a third party while billing dispute under investigation). Young is not directly on point. Unlike the section at issue in Young, section 1747.08 does impose a mandatory penalty and is therefore penal in nature. See The TJX Companies, Inc. v Superior Court (2008) 163 Cal. App. 4th 80, 85-86.

in its nature and the argument of appellants that it may still be considered purely as a remedial statute is without force." Moss v. Smith (1916) 171 Cal. 777, 783; Valdez v. Himmelfarb (2006) 144 Cal. App. 4th 1261, 1269 n.17 ("An action on a penalty . . . is generally considered one in which the plaintiff is allowed to recover from a wrongdoer without regard to the actual damages sustained.") "[U]nder a remedial statute all that is permitted is compensation to make good a loss " Id. at 782. "What is meant by a statutory penalty was defined in Los Angeles County v. *Ballerino*, 99 Cal. 593, [32 P. 581, 34 P. 329], to be 'one which an individual is allowed to recover against a wrongdoer as a satisfaction for wrong or injury suffered and without reference to the actual damage sustained." Id. at 783. "The fact that a statute may have a remedial phase is not at all inconsistent with its being of highly punitive character." *Id.* at 784. Thus, the Petition misreads Lungren – it is not the law that the rule of strict construction applies only to criminal penal statutes.

The law is long-standing and well-settled that if a statute gives rise to a new remedy or is penal in effect – even if the statute has a remedial purpose – it must be construed in favor of the party sought to be subjected to it. Weber v. Piyan (1937) 9 Cal. 2d 226, 229-30; see also Tos, 160 Cal. App. 3d at 78. The penal nature of this kind of statute trumps its remedial purpose, and it should be strictly construed in favor of the defendant. See id.; Moss, 171 Cal. at 783.

Williams-Sonoma does not dispute that Song-Beverly is remedial in its purpose. But, Song-Beverly gave rise to a new remedy to consumers and imposes mandatory civil penalties up to \$1,000 per violation. Cal. Civ. Code § 1747.08(e).⁷ For retailers like Williams-Sonoma that conduct thousands of transactions statewide per day, this number could approach hundreds of millions to billions of dollars. This is dramatically out of proportion to the harm allegedly suffered by these consumers and the statute is, therefore, penal in nature. So, even if the Court of Appeal strictly construed the statute, it was correct to do so and not inconsistent with *Florez*.⁸

⁷ The Petition argues that the statute is not penal in nature because a court could impose as little as the proverbial peppercorn as a penalty. (Petition, p. 15.) The argument is irrelevant. *The TJX Companies, Inc. v Superior Court* (2008) 163 Cal. App. 4th 80, 85-86 (Song-Beverly imposes a mandatory penalty even if the amount of the penalty is discretionary and spans from a peppercorn to the maximum allowed by the statute). Moreover, it is clearly disingenuous. Does Ms. Pineda mean to suggest that if this case were remanded for trial, she (and all the other plaintiffs that have filed and will file class actions in this State against retailers who request zip codes) will only seek civil penalties of a mere peppercorn per violation?

⁸ Moreover, even if *Florez* applied the correct standard for statutory construction to the facts asserted there, the threshold issue of what information is covered by Song-Beverly was not before the Court in *Florez*. Thus, it would have been consistent for *Party City* to strictly construe the statute as to what information was even covered by the statute, while *Florez* liberally construed whether the conduct at issue in that particular case violated it.

Further, simple notions of fairness, equal protection and due process require that the statute be sufficiently clear, and thus not limitless in meaning, to put a retailer on notice that asking for a zip code could subject it to potentially billions of dollars in penalties. People ex rel. Gallo v. Acuna (1997) 14 Cal.4th 1090, 1115; State Farm Auto Ins. Co. v. Campbell (2003) 538 U.S. 408, 417 (Kennedy, J.) (citing *BMW of N. Am. v. Gore* (1996) 517 U.S. 559, 574 (Stevens, J.)). Courts have recognized the problem associated with plaintiffs seeking enormous statutory damage awards on behalf of a class where the awards are completely unrelated to the amount of harm inflicted. See, e.g., Ratner v. Chemical Bank New York Trust Co., 54 F.R.D. 412 (S.D.N.Y. 1972) (declining to certify class of 130,000 that sought \$13 million in statutory damages where no actual harm was alleged); see also, Anderson v. Capital One Bank, 224 F.R.D. 444, 453 (W.D. Wis. 2004) ("The potential damages for such a class are wholly out of proportion to the harm done to any of the class members..."); Kline v. Coldwell Banker & Co., 508 F.2d 226, 234-35 (9th Cir. 1974) (reversing district court's decision to certify class because the possibility of outrageous awards of statutory treble damages that might be imposed, jointly and severally, upon individual defendants would shock the conscience). Thus, to the extent that it is unclear on the statute's face whether a zip code is "personal identification information," the statute *should* have been construed in a light most favorable to Williams-Sonoma, which is narrowly.

Finally, even if there were a conflict in the Courts of Appeal with regard to this issue, it is a conflict between *Party City* and *Florez*, not *Pineda* and *Florez*. The standard for statutory construction is not even mentioned in *Pineda*. By contrast, the Court of Appeal specified in *Party* City that it would adopt a strict construction of the statute and supported its decision with a detailed and extensive analysis of the law. Party City, 169 Cal. App. 4th 509-11. This issue was raised in the Petition for Review in Party City (Petition for Review, Filed January 28, 2009, Party City v. Superior Court, No. S170092) and this Court was presented at that time, approximately one year ago, with the opportunity to resolve this supposed intradistrict conflict. It declined to do so. The Petition here seeks to revisit that decision, even though the issue is never mentioned in the *Pineda* Opinion. This Court was correct when it declined to review this issue in Party City on April 1, 2009. Nothing has occurred in the meantime to justify a different result here. To the contrary, Williams-Sonoma and other retailers throughout California have been relying upon Party City to guide their conduct since it was issued in December 2008, and particularly since this Court denied review on April 1, 2009.

B. The Question of Law Presented by the Petition is Settled.

The Petition argues that Supreme Court review is necessary because these same issues are likely to be presented to each of the Appellate Districts in California if this issue is not settled now. (Petition, p. 6.) As

this has yet to occur, and indeed may never occur, this argument is nothing but wishful speculation. The Supreme Court does not sit to preemptively decide questions of law that may or may not become unsettled in the future. Regardless, in Party City, the Court of Appeal specifically stated that it would decide the matter precisely to settle the law. Party City, 169 Cal.App.4th at 506 (granting review to resolve conflict among the trial court interpretations). Party City is entitled to deference by Courts of Appeal in other districts unless one of them finds that *Party City* was wrongly decided. Greyhound Lines, Inc. v. County of Santa Clara (1986) 187 Cal. App. 3d 480, 485. Under *Party City* and now *Pineda*, a retailer does not violate Song-Beverly by requesting and recording its customers' zip codes in connection with credit card transactions, even if the retailer uses third-party software or services to subsequently obtain its customers' home addresses. There is nothing open-ended or unsettled about that. If another appellate district disagrees at some point in the future, then there may at that time be a conflict between districts for the Supreme Court to resolve. But at this point, such a conflict does not exist.

The Petition also argues that the Court of Appeal's decisions in *Party City* and *Pineda* created a loophole in Song-Beverly that allows retailers to circumvent the statute by collecting zip codes and using them to obtain home addresses, and that this is an important issue that affects the privacy rights of every California citizen. (Petition, pp. 3, 5, 6, 14-16). The *Pineda*

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